

American Association of Public Health Physicians

The voice of public health physicians, guardians of the public's health Tobacco Control Task Force Joel L. Nitzkin, MD, MPTH, DPA – Chair, AAPHP TCTF 504 899 7893 or 800 598 2561; E-mail: jln@jln-md.com www.aaphp.org

AAPHP Resolution and White Paper The Case for Harm Reduction

for Control of Tobacco-related Illness and Death Prepared by

Joel L. Nitzkin, MD and Brad Rodu, DDS On behalf of the Tobacco Control Task Force, AAPHP As amended and passed by the AAPHP General Membership October 26, 2008

Abstract

"Tobacco Harm Reduction" is taken to mean encouraging and enabling smokers to reduce their risk of tobacco-related illness and death by switching to less hazardous smokeless tobacco products.

In practical terms, enhancement of current policies based on the premise that all tobacco products are equally risky will yield only small and barely measurable reductions in tobacco-related illness and death. Addition of a harm reduction component, however, could yield a 50% to 80% reduction in tobacco-related illness and death over the first ten years, and a likely reduction of up to 90% within 20 years. These projections are based on the expectation that a significant number of smokers will continue to smoke and the knowledge that risk of death from lung cancer continues for decades after the smoker has stopped smoking.

The literature review and bibliographic references that stand behind these projections are to be found in this AAPHP White Paper.

Executive Summary

"Harm Reduction" in the context of this executive summary is taken to mean encouraging and enabling smokers to reduce their risk of tobacco-related illness and death by switching to less hazardous tobacco products. This switch could be short-term or long-term, partial or full, with the understanding that every time an alternative tobacco product is used in place of a cigarette, risk of tobacco-related illness and death is reduced.

A simplified explanation of the risks of different tobacco products can be provided using a scale from zero to 100, with a score of 100 representing the average loss of 8 years of life due to cigarette smoking and a score of 0.001 representing the level of risk acceptable to the American public for other consumer products. This represents a five order of magnitude (one million times) difference in risk of death comparing cigarettes to foods and over-the-counter medications.

More than 90% smoking-related deaths are due to lung cancer, other pulmonary diseases, and cardiovascular diseases among smokers; and deaths in non-smokers from environmental tobacco smoke. Switching to smokeless tobacco would eliminate these risks. There is no disease for which the risk from smokeless tobacco is greater than the risk for smoking. Therefore, the theoretical maximum risk for a smokeless tobacco product would be about 10 (one order of magnitude less risk than cigarettes).

The problem with cigarettes appears to be the process of combustion itself, with direct inhalation of concentrated products of combustion. Some experts believe that such smoking of any plant material (even dried cabbage or lettuce) would yield high rates of cardiac and pulmonary disease and cancer, even without the carcinogens present in tobacco.

Case-control studies show that the highest risk smokeless tobacco product, powdered dry snuff, confers a risk rating of about 2. The best available data suggests that the lowest risk smokeless tobacco product (low nitrosamine snus) carries a theoretical risk rating of about 0.3. Thus, while reducing the risk of tobacco related death by more than 98%, (two orders of magnitude less risk) smokeless tobacco products are still 300 to 2,000 times more hazardous (two to three orders of magnitude more risk) than foods and over-the-counter medications.

Current tobacco control policies are based on the premise that all tobacco products are equally risky, and that smokers should quit or face death from tobacco related illness. This policy ignores what we know about the relative risk of smokeless tobacco products, and ignores what we know about the strength of the nicotine addiction.

In practical terms, enhancement of current policies will yield only small and barely measurable reductions in tobacco-related illness and death. Addition of a harm reduction component, however, could yield a 50% to 80% reduction in tobacco-related illness and death over the first ten years, and a likely reduction of up to 90% within 20 years. These projections are based on the expectation that a significant number of smokers will continue to smoke and the knowledge that risk of death from lung cancer continues for decades after the smoker has stopped smoking.

Many who oppose tobacco harm reduction mistakenly believe that switching from cigarettes to smokeless tobacco will increase the risk of oral (mouth and throat) cancer. This is simply not true. There is no illness and no form of cancer for which any form of smokeless tobacco carries a risk higher than the risk from cigarette smoking. Both smoking and use of smokeless tobacco cause white patches in the mouth known as leukoplakia. Smoking-related leukoplakias account for 75% of oral cancer in the U.S.A. Smokeless tobacco related leukoplakias rarely progress to cancer.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 3 of 37

Another common objection to tobacco harm reduction is based on the expectation that encouraging smokers to switch to smokeless tobacco will increase the numbers of teens initiating tobacco use and decrease the numbers of smokers who quit. Experience in Sweden shows that it is feasible to get smokers to switch to snus (a low risk form of smokeless tobacco consisting of moist snuff usually sold in miniature tea-bag-like pouches to be placed between the upper lip and gum) without increasing the number of children and youth initiating tobacco use and without decreasing the number of smokers who quit each year.

Even if a harm reduction approach doubles the number of people using tobacco products in the United States, the order-of-magnitude differences in risk of illness and death comparing smoking to smokeless tobacco products would still result in the same 50% to 80% reduction in tobacco-related illness and death over the first ten years, and a likely reduction of up to 90% within 20 years.

Thus, it is our (The American Association of Public Health Physicians) perception that the current base of tobacco-related science is more than sufficient to support adding harm reduction as a component of programming intended to reduce tobacco-related illness and death.

While some have proposed limiting harm reduction to medicinal nicotine products, such a limitation would likely place the reduced risk products out of reach of rebellious teens, socially disadvantaged minorities, gays, and other high risk groups. We are therefore recommending that the approach to harm reduction be based on tobacco products sold in the same retail outlets as cigarettes, and at comparable prices.

All this considered, children and youth should be advised never to initiate tobacco use, and current tobacco users should be encouraged to quit. For smokers unable or unwilling to quit (that is, they are unable or unwilling to overcome their addiction to nicotine), encouraging them to switch to the lowest risk ST products would be an effective way for them to reduce their risk of tobacco-related illness and death.

The literature review and bibliographic references that stand behind this Executive Summary are to be found in this AAPHP White Paper.

This resolution and white paper were approved by the American Association of Public Health physicians at their general membership meeting in San Diego, October 26, 2008.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 4 of 37

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Executive Summary	2
Table of Contents	4
Resolution on Tobacco Harm Reduction	5
Whereas # 1 – Evidence of Lower Risk	6
Health Risks of Cigarette Smoking	6
ST Use- Cardiovascular Disease	7
ST Use- Pulmonary Disease	7
Oral leukoplakia	7
ST Use- Cancer	8
Comparison of the health risks of ST use with those of smoking	11
The Health Benefits of Tobacco Cessation Versus Switching to ST	14
References	14
Whereas # 2 – Elimination of environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) and fire-related hazards	19
Whereas # 3 – "Abstain, quit, or die" may have reached maximum achievable benefit	20
Whereas # 4 – Harm Reduction works and can be accomplished in a way that will not increase	e
initiation or decrease cessation	22
Evidence that ST is an Effective Substitute for Cigarettes	22
Evidence that Harm Reduction Will Not Increase Initiation	24
References	25
Whereas # 5 Agencies and Organizations endorsing harm reduction	28
Whereas # 6 – Incorrect Impression of equal risk	29
Whereas #7 – Tax policy	32
Whereas # 8 – Political and financial viability of harm reduction	34
Note Regarding Pharmaceutical versus Non-Pharmaceutical Harm Reduction Products	35
Note on the Need for Additional Research	35
Bios and Financial Disclosure Statements	36

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 5 of 37

Resolution on Tobacco Harm Reduction

Whereas there is substantial scientific evidence that selected smokeless tobacco (ST) products can satisfy the nicotine addiction of inveterate smokers while **eliminating most**, if not all, risk of **pulmonary and cardiovascular complications** of smoking and while reducing **the risk of cancer** by more than 95% and

Whereas transitioning smokers to selected ST products will eliminate environmental tobacco smoke and fire-related hazards and

Whereas current "abstain, quit, or die" tobacco control policies in the United States may have reached their maximum possible public health benefit because of the large number of cigarette smokers either unwilling or unable to discontinue their addiction to nicotine, and

Whereas there is evidence that harm reduction works and can be accomplished in a way that will not increase initiation or impede smoking cessation and

Whereas health-related agencies and organizations, both within the United States and Abroad have already gone on record **endorsing Harm Reduction** as an approach to further reducing tobacco related illness and death, and

Whereas current federal policy requires tobacco product labeling that leaves the incorrect impression that all tobacco product present equal risk; and

Whereas certain tax policies put ST products at a competitive disadvantage, compared to cigarettes; and

Whereas harm reduction approaches to reducing tobacco related illness and death promise to be more **politically and financially viable** than alternative approaches because harm reduction approaches can secure the support of many tobacco-industry-related stakeholders.

Be it Therefore Resolved that the **American Association of Public Health Physicians** go on record as **favoring Harm Reduction** as a component of public health efforts to reduce tobaccorelated illness and death and

Be it further **Resolved** that such efforts shall encourage the **following approaches**:

1. Product labeling to inform consumers of the relative risk profiles of the various classes of tobacco products.

2. Governmental and health-organization sponsored health education to educate consumers to the risk profiles of the various classes of tobacco products

3. Revision of taxation schemes at federal, state, and local levels to reflect risk profiles and costs to society of the various classes of tobacco products

4. Regulation of the manufacturing and marketing of the various classes of tobacco products reflective of their respective risk profiles and costs to society

Be it further **Resolved** that **funds be established** through taxation of tobacco products to facilitate government-sponsored (as opposed to tobacco company sponsored) **research and program evaluation** to refine our understanding of the relative risk profiles of the various classes of tobacco products, market trends, and the impact of governmental policy and programming on tobacco product consumption.

Whereas #1 – Evidence of Lower Risk

Health Risks of Cigarette Smoking

As background for this literature review, the following summary data is provided from the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) web site. [1,2]

"Cigarette smoking is the leading cause of preventable death in the United States and produces substantial health-related economic costs to society." [1]

About 438,000 U.S. deaths are attributable each year to cigarette smoking. [2] Of these, about 38,000 are due lung cancer or ischemic heart disease due to exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. [2]

Table 1.Annual Smoking-Attributable Deaths in the United States
among 45 Million Smokers

Cause of Death	Range of	Estimated Numbers of Deaths			
	RR ^{1,2}	per Year in the United States			
Cancer					
Mouth and throat	5-11	4,868			
Pancreas	2.3	6,509			
Lung	13-23	123,836			
Other		23,316			
All Cancer			158,529		
Cardiovascular Diseases			137,979		
Respiratory Disorders			101,454		
All Deaths Among Smokers			397,962 ^{2,4}		
Environmental					
Tobacco Smoke					
Lung cancer		3,000			
Cardiovascular		35,000			
All Environmental			38,000 ³		
Tobacco Smoke					
All			435,962 ⁴		

¹ RR = Relative Risk; the ratio of risk comparing users to non-users; an RR of 1 means no increased Risk; 1.2 means a 20% increase; 2.0 means double the risk, etc. Range reflects differences from different case-control studies.

² CDC SAMMEC, http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/sammec/login.asp

³ CDC, http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5425a1.htm

⁴ Does not include small numbers of deaths from a variety of other causes

(note: Estimated numbers of deaths derived by CDC by a complex software package using data from research studies, national surveys, and death records)

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 7 of 37

ST Use- Cardiovascular Disease

Over the past 15 years, ten epidemiologic studies have examined the risk of cardiovascular diseases among ST users. Eight of the studies found that ST users had no increased risk for heart attacks or strokes [3-10]. The other two reported modestly positive associations, with ST users having relative risks compared to non-users (RRs) of 1.2 and 1.4 [11,12], which are lower than those of smokers.

In 2003, Asplund completed a comprehensive review of the cardiovascular effects of ST use [65]. He concluded that, in distinct contrast to smokers, ST users do not exhibit any significant differences from nonusers of tobacco with regard to the following measures of cardiovascular health: heart rate, blood pressure, cardiac output and maximal working capacity, levels of hemoglobin and hematocrit, leukocytes, antioxidant vitamins, fibrinogen, components of the fibrinolytic system, C-reactive protein and thromboxane A2 production. In addition, ST users did not show important smoking-associated vascular changes, including increased thickness of blood vessels and atherosclerotic plaque development. In summary, most of the medical and epidemiologic evidence documents that ST users do not have elevated risks for cardiovascular diseases.

ST Use- Pulmonary Disease

According to the 2007 statement on harm reduction by the Royal College of Physicians in London, "ST products have little or no effect on the risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or lung cancer." [14]

In February of 2008, a European Commission released a report on the health effects of ST products including the following statements:

"Respiratory diseases, predominantly lung cancer, COPD and pneumonia, account for 46% of the deaths caused by cigarette smoking in the EU (The ASPECT Consortium 2004). There is no consistent evidence that any ST products cause any of these major respiratory diseases. Complete substitution of ST products for tobacco smoking would thus ultimately prevent nearly all deaths from respiratory disease currently caused by smoking, which in total represent nearly half of all deaths caused by smoking." [15]

In a 2007 paper on snus, Foulds and Kozlowski concluded: "Importantly, for two of the most prevalent smoking-caused diseases (lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease), snus poses no risk." [16]

Oral leukoplakia

Oral leukoplakia is a term used frequently in discussions about ST use. In 1978 the World Health Organization defined oral leukoplakia as a "white patch or plaque that cannot be characterized clinically or pathologically as any other disease." (17) Later this definition was recognized as overly broad; in 1984 it was revised to distinguish leukoplakias associated with ST use from those associated with smoking (18). The distinctions were based on prevalence, the location in the mouth, the proportion showing microscopic features of dysplasia, and the rate of malignant transformation (18,19).

Oral leukoplakia is a rare condition, occurring in less than 1% of the general population. Smoking-related leukoplakias occur primarily in long-time smokers 40 to 60 years old (20,21), and they most

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 8 of 37

commonly involve the undersurface of the tongue and soft palate, locations accounting for 75% of oral cancer in the U.S. (21,22)

Leukoplakias are seen in up to 60% of ST users (23,24), within 6 months to 3 years of starting ST use (25,26). They primarily occur at the site of ST use (i.e. mucosa of the gingival and lip) and are largely a result of local irritation (25,27). The frequency of appearance depends on the type of ST that is used. Moist snuff is more strongly associated with leukoplakia than chewing tobacco, which is attributed to high pH among the former (26). However, leukoplakia is less frequently seen in users of pre-portioned pouches than in those using loose forms of moist snuff (28).

There are distinct differences in the prevalence of dysplasia in leukoplakias associated with ST and smoking. Dysplasia is seen infrequently in ST leukoplakias (less than 3%) (29-32). Furthermore, even when dysplasia is present in ST leukoplakia, it usually is found in earlier stages than in leukoplakias due to smoking (33,34), where it is seen in about 20% of cases (35).

ST leukoplakias only rarely progress to cancer. For example, one prospective study found no case of cancer in 1,550 ST users with leukoplakia who were followed for 10 years (36), and a second study reported no case of oral cancer among 500 regular ST users followed for six years (37). A retrospective study of 200,000 male snuff users in Sweden found only one case of oral cancer per year, an extremely low frequency (38). In a more recent study, a group of 1,115 snus users in Sweden who presented with leukoplakia in 1973-74 were followed for 27-29 years. The study documented that the lesions had completely disappeared in 62 persons who had quit snus permanently. Cancer record linkages revealed three cases of oral cancer, resulting in a standardized incidence ratio of 2.3 (95% CI = 0.5-6.7) (39).

Leukoplakias in smokers have a higher rate of malignant transformation. In 1984 a follow-up study reported that 17% of smoking leukoplakias transformed into a cancer over seven years (40).

In summary, leukoplakia occurs commonly in ST users, but it primarily represents irritation and only very rarely progresses to oral cancer. In 2008 a systematic review of the epidemiologic evidence came to the following conclusion:

"Thirty-three epidemiological studies consistently show a strong dose-related effect of current snuff on oral mucosal lesion prevalence. In Scandinavia, users have a near 100% prevalence of a characteristic "snuff-induced lesion", but prevalence of the varied lesions reported in the USA is lower. Associations with chewing tobacco are weaker. The lack of clear association with former use suggests reversibility following cessation, consistent with experimental studies showing rapid lesion regression on quitting." (41)

ST Use- Cancer

<u>**Oral Cancer**</u>. ST use has been associated with cancer – most specifically oral cancer – for many decades. It is widely perceived – both by laypersons and medical professionals – that the association is strong and applies to all ST products. However, epidemiologic studies dating back to the 1950s provide convincing evidence that most ST products increase oral cancer risks only minimally.

Rodu and Cole reviewed 21 epidemiologic studies published from 1957 to 1998 [42]. Unlike previous reviewers, these authors derived relative risk (RR) estimates for cancers of the mouth and

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 9 of 37

associated upper respiratory sites related to use of chewing tobacco, moist snuff, dry snuff and a fourth category in which the type of ST was unclear or undetermined (ST unspecified). This study found that use of chewing tobacco and moist snuff were associated with only minimally elevated risks, while use of dry snuff conferred higher risks.

Chewing tobacco has been studied at least once in each of four decades from the 1960s to the 1990s. The data clearly show that chewing tobacco use is associated with only slightly elevated cancer risks; RRs for all anatomic sites are under 2 with confidence intervals including 1 (i.e. no perceptible increase in risk). The first study evaluating the risk of chewing tobacco appeared in 1962 [43]. There were two studies in 1977 [44,45], two in 1988 [46,47], and four studies from 1993 to 1998 [48-51].

As with chewing tobacco, summary RRs are only slightly elevated for moist snuff, with three RRs at or below 1 and the highest RR at 1.2. RRs for moist snuff were reported first in 1977 [44]. Another study appeared in 1988 [47], and five additional studies were published from 1993 to 1998, as this ST type came under intense scrutiny [48-52].

Two of the seven studies on moist snuff were Swedish, both appearing in 1998 [51,52]. These studies have received considerable attention among tobacco researchers, particularly in Europe, because they are viewed as showing no oral cancer risk for Swedish products. They formed the basis for the Swedish government's decision in 1999 to recommend that the European Union (EU) oral cancer warning labels be removed from ST products. An EU directive in 2001 accomplished that objective and specified a new warning, "This tobacco product can damage your health and is addictive" [53]. Notably, the other five studies contributing to the summary RRs for moist snuff were American, and they reported RRs very similar to those of the Swedish studies.

Summary RRs for dry snuff use are higher, ranging from 4 to 13, although the confidence intervals for these estimates are wide. The first study appeared in 1962 [43], followed by studies in 1981 [54], 1988 [46], and 1994 [49], spanning a period of 32 years.

Eight studies provided RRs for ST-unspecified, five of which appeared between 1957 and 1969 [55-59]. Additional studies appeared in 1992 [60], 1993 [48] and 1998 [61]. RRs for ST-unspecified range from 1.5 to 2.8, and most are statistically significant. For all sites the summary RR is 1.9 (CI=1.5-2.3), which is intermediate between the low risks reported for chewing tobacco (1.2, 1.0-1.4) or moist snuff (1.0, 0.8-1.2) and the higher risk for dry snuff (5.9, 1.7-20). The intermediate risks for this ST category probably reflect the use of either the lower- or higher-risk products among different groups within the studies.

Prior to the 2002 analysis by Rodu and Cole, the distinctive risk profiles of moist snuff and chewing tobacco on one hand, and dry snuff on the other, had gone unnoticed. In fact, the low oral cancer risk associated with chewing tobacco had been discussed briefly in only one article [62]. No distinction in risks had been made previously between dry snuff and moist snuff, even though these products are considerably different with regard to tobacco content and processing, as noted earlier.

The distinction between the higher risk profile of American dry snuff and the minimal risk conferred by chewing tobacco and moist snuff continues to be ignored in reports from governmental and other organizations. In 2007 the International Agency for Research on Cancer issued IARC Monograph 89 on ST products [63]. Although the publication distinguished between chewing tobacco, moist snuff and dry snuff in the section on ST use, no such distinction was made in the

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 10 of 37

section on health effects. Similarly, in 2008 the Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR) from the European Union issued a report on the health effects of ST products [64]. Differences in risk among American products were minimized, even after a communication from the present author (BR) providing the scientific basis for the distinction. On the other hand, in 2007 the Royal College of Physicians issued a report on tobacco harm reduction, which contained a section on the health risks of ST use [14]. That report clearly discussed oral cancer risks separately for American moist snuff, chewing tobacco and dry snuff, and it further stated that the 1981 Winn study [54], showing the highest risks for oral cancer, was based exclusively on women in the Southeast U.S. who used powdered dry snuff. It is difficult to understand why the IARC and SCENIHR reports failed to make a similar distinction, since the details of the Winn study were disclosed by Winn herself in an IARC publication [65] and in another scientific publication [66].

The majority of epidemiologic studies regarding ST use and oral cancer have limitations, many of which are typical for case-control studies, and some important for understanding unique oral cancer risks. Most of them did not control for confounding by two strong determinants of oral cancer, cigarette smoking and alcohol use. Positive confounding by smoking would occur if ST users smoke more than do nonusers of ST. This would result in artificially high risk estimates for oral cancer among ST users. On the other hand, negative confounding is plausible and would occur if smoking rates are lower among ST users than among nonusers of ST. This would result in artificially low risks for oral cancer among ST users.

Only three studies [51,52,54] controlled for alcohol use, where only positive confounding is likely. Thus, control for alcohol consumption in all studies probably would have reduced somewhat many of the estimates of mouth cancer risk associated with ST use.

However, even with these limitations, the results of these studies are reasonably consistent with regard to mouth cancer risks from long-term use of moist snuff and chewing tobacco. In their review Rodu and Cole concluded that "the abundance of data now available indicates that commonly used ST products increase the risk of oral and upper respiratory tract cancers only minimally." [42]

Since the 2002 review five epidemiologic studies, two from Sweden and three from the U.S., have been published [67-71]. In all of these studies ST use was not associated with a significant increase in mouth cancer risk. In 2004 a group of epidemiologists concluded that the evidence linking ST use and oral cancer was "not decisive" [72]. These investigators commented that many claims in the media "overemphasize the risk of oral cavity cancer [from ST use], reaching beyond the scientific data."

In 2007 a meta-analysis concluded that "ST, as used in America or Europe, carries at most a minor increased risk of oral cancer." [73]

Pancreas cancer. Since 2004 four epidemiologic studies have evaluated the risk of pancreas cancer among ST users; two were based in the U.S., one in Norway and one in Sweden. An American study published in 2004 revealed that ever ST users had a RR of 1.4 (95% CI = 0.5 - 3.6) for pancreas cancer, compared with non-users of tobacco [74], and the RR was 1.1 (95% CI = 0.4 - 3.1) among exclusive ST users. The study did not control for diabetes or family history of pancreas cancer, which had been found in a previous report to be significant risk factors for the disease in this cohort [75].

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 11 of 37

In 2005 a study based in Norway found that ST users had a RR of 1.7 (95% CI = 1.1 - 2.5) [76], compared with nonusers of tobacco. However, this study was strongly criticized on a number of technical issues [77]. First, the investigators created a mixed referent group for the SLT analysis by combining never and occasional users (the designation of exposure groups, and especially of the referent group, greatly affects risk estimates in a study as small as this). They failed to provide risk estimates using the four customary SLT exposure categories that they described in their methods section: never users (referent group), regular current, occasional current, and regular former users. Second, they did not control for alcohol use. This was a critical error, as alcohol consumption was reported as the strongest risk factor for pancreas cancer in the earlier report of this cohort, with odds ratios up to 11 [78]. Finally, the study authors used an unusual procedure to adjust for the effects of smoking, which may have affected the risk estimates for ST users.

In 2007 a Swedish study found that Swedish construction workers who currently used ST had a RR of 2.1 (95% CI = 1.2 - 3.6) [71], compared with nonusers of tobacco. This study is one of a series produced by investigators at the Karolinska Institute.

In 2007 a case-control study involving 800 patients with pancreas cancer and 800 controls found that there was no association between ever-use of chewing tobacco or snuff and pancreatic cancer [79]. The adjusted odds ratio among chewing tobacco users was 0.6 (95% CI = 0.6 - 1.4), and the adjusted odds ratio for snuff users was 0.5 (95% CI = 0.1 - 1.5), when compared with never-users of tobacco. The results were adjusted age, sex, race/ethnicity, cigarette smoking, history of diabetes, alcohol consumption, educational level, state of residency, and marital status. This study found that the odds ratio among ever smokers was 1.6 (95% CI = 1.2 - 1.9), and a dose-response effect based on pack-years was evident.

Comparison of the health risks of ST use with those of smoking

According to the most recent data from CDC, [1,2] only 34% of smoking-related deaths are due to cancer. Since the data in the literature reviewed above suggests that the only substantial health hazard of ST is related to cancer at sites other than the lung, substituting ST for cigarettes would reduce the death toll from tobacco products from 438,000 per year to less than 34,700. The more detailed studies, presented in the literature review in this report suggest that, with a focus on the lowest risk ST products, this death toll could be reduced to less than 2% of the overall cancer risk of smoking – a death toll of less than 3,000 per year.

One major issue related to the extreme health hazard posed by cigarettes has to do with the means by which the hazardous chemical substances are transmitted to the human body, and the related issue of other chemicals produced in the combustion process. Burning tobacco generates carbon monoxide, which, in conjunction with the nicotine, substantially stresses the heart and cardiovascular system. The combustion process also produces gasses and small particles that are then directly transmitted to the smaller bronchi and the alveoli of the lung – possibly the most delicate and vulnerable tissues in the human body. Some experts in this field feel that smoking of any biomass, even without the nicotine and tar of cigarette smoke, would produce similar pulmonary, cardiac, and even cancer-related rates of illness and death [80].

The established health risks associated with ST use are vastly lower than those of smoking. In the past 25 years, numerous peer-reviewed scientific and medical publications have acknowledged the differential risks between the two tobacco products.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 12 of 37

As noted earlier, there are major differences between oral leukoplakias associated with smoking and those associated with ST use. Smoking-related leukoplakias most commonly involve the undersurface of the tongue and throat, locations that account for 75% of oral cancer in the U.S. Leukoplakia occurs in up to 60% of ST users, primarily at the site of ST use. It is the result of local irritation. Long term follow-up of large numbers of ST users show that ST leukoplakias rarely progress to cancer.

In 1980 Michael A.H. Russell and co-workers proposed that nasal snuff might serve as an effective substitute for cigarettes because it delivers nicotine effectively without the risks of tobacco combustion [81]. This article was cited shortly thereafter in a brief letter in the New England Journal of Medicine [82]. Russell et al. published follow-up studies on nasal snuff in 1981 [83] and on an oral ST product in 1985 [84]. Lynn Kozlowski, a prominent American smoking and nicotine addiction expert at Penn State University, noted in 1984 and 1989 that smokeless forms of tobacco conferred fewer risks to users and therefore might serve as effective substitutes for cigarettes [85-87]. Using established risk estimates from accepted sources, Rodu and Cole documented that ST use confers only about 2% of the health risks of smoking [88-90]. In addition, they established that the average reduction in life expectancy from long-term ST use was about 15 days, compared with a reduction of about 8 years from smoking [89].

In 1994 Rodu noted that ST use posed a lower risk for mouth cancer than smoking [88]. In 2001 this was confirmed by a comprehensive report on tobacco harm reduction by the Institute of Medicine, which stated that "the overall [oral cancer] risk [for ST use] is lower than for cigarette smoking, and some products such as Swedish snus may have no increased risk" [91].

By the late 1990s some influential organizations acknowledged the differential risks of ST use and smoking. For example, in 1997 experts meeting at the United Nations Focal Point on Tobacco or Health concluded that "it is now evident that the risk of death and disease is related to not only the amount but also the nature of tobacco exposure; for example, daily cigarette smoking is far more dangerous than occasional use of Swedish snuff" [92]. That same year a scientific panel convened by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare concluded that "the health risks related to ST are with great probability lower than those related to smoking" [93].

In 2002 the Royal College of Physicians of London, one of the oldest and most prestigious medical societies in the world, issued a report called "Protecting Smokers, Saving Lives," which stated, "As a way of using nicotine, the consumption of non-combustible [smokeless] tobacco is on the order of 10-1,000 times less hazardous than smoking, depending on the product." [94]

In 2004 a study funded by the NCI assembled an international panel of experts (including epidemiologists from the NIH and the ACS) to compare the risks of ST use with those of smoking. The study authors reported that, "In comparison with smoking, experts perceive at least a 90% reduction in the relative risk of low-nitrosamine ST use." The authors concluded that "This finding raises ethical questions concerning whether it is inappropriate and misleading for government officials or public health experts to characterize ST products as comparably dangerous with cigarette smoking" [95].

Phillips et al. have provided perhaps the most detailed and direct comparison of risks from use of Swedish or American ST products and from smoking, using a spectrum of risk estimates for ST use ranging from well-substantiated and plausible to highly speculative and implausible [96]. They

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 13 of 37

estimated that, compared with smoking, ST risks "in the range of 1% or 2%, and possibly less, are most consistent with the epidemiologic evidence. Perhaps most important, our calculation shows that comparative risk estimates as high as 5%, let alone 10% or more, cannot be justified based on the evidence."

Using the risk estimates described in detail above, the following table compares the number of deaths that would occur annually among 45 million ST users with the number of deaths that the CDC estimates among 45 million smokers.

Cause of Death	Smokers			Smokeless Tobacco						
	Range of RR ^{1,2}	Estimated Numbers of Deaths per Year in the United States		Range of RR ^{1,3}	Estimated Numbers of Deaths per Year in the United States					
Cancer										
Mouth and throat	5-11	4,868		1.0-4.0	665 ³					
Pancreas	2.3	6,509		0.6-2.1	$2,003^3$					
Lung	13-23	123,836		1.0	0					
Other		23,316		1.0	0					
All Cancer			158,529			2,668				
Cardiovascular			137,979			0				
Diseases										
Respiratory			101,454			0				
Disorders										
All Deaths			397,962 ^{2,5}							
Among Smokers										
Environmental										
Tobacco Smoke										
Lung cancer		3,000								
Cardiovascular		35,000								
All Environmental			38,000 ⁴			0				
Tobacco Smoke										
All			435,962°			2,668				

Table 2Annual Smoking-Attributable Deaths in the United States45 Million Smokers or 45 Million ST Users

RR = Relative Risk; the ratio of risk comparing users to non-users; an RR of 1 means no increased Risk; 1.2 means a 20% increase; 2.0 means double the risk, etc. Range reflects differences from different case-control

studies.

1

² CDC SAMMEC, <u>http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/sammec/login.asp</u>

³ Estimates derived from epidemiologic studies (see text)

⁴ CDC, <u>http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5425a1.htm</u>

Does not include small numbers of deaths from a variety of other causes

(note: RR estimates are from case-control studies. Estimated numbers of deaths derived by CDC by a complex software package using data from research studies, national surveys, and death records)

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 14 of 37

The Health Benefits of Tobacco Cessation Versus Switching to ST

Some risk of smoking-related death lingers for many years after cessation. The reduction in life expectancy from smoking and the benefits to be secured from quitting vary with age, gender, pack-years smoked, co-morbidities and other factors. Working from the best available data from the CDC and other sources in 1996, Rodu and Cole estimated that, for an average male smoker 40 years old, quitting would result in regaining about 7.2 of the 7.7 years of life expectancy otherwise lost to smoking. If instead of quitting, the man switched to ST, he would still regain the 7.2 years. For the male smoker at age 60, the projected loss of life expectancy from smoking would be 6 years. If he quit or switched at that age, he would only regain 1.9 of those years. Again, there would be no measurable difference in life expectancy for quitting vs. switching. The data for women is similar in pattern, but with only about half the loss in life expectancy. In any of these cases, the difference in life expectancy between quitting and switching to a low risk ST product would likely be no more than a few weeks [97].

- Annual Smoking-Attributable Mortality, Years of Potential Life Lost, and Economic Costs United States, 1995-1999. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report April 12, 2002; 51(14); 300-3. http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5114a2.htm accessed October 6, 2008
- 2. Annual Deaths Attributable to Cigarette Smoking—United States, 1997-2001; as reviewed and modified 02/28/2007. http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/tables/health/attrdths.htm_accessed October 6, 2008
- 3. Huhtasaari F, Lundberg V, Eliasson M, Janlert U, Asplund K, 1999. Smokeless tobacco as a possible risk factor for myocardial infarction. A population-based study in middle-aged men. J Am Coll Cardiol 34, 1784-1790.
- 4. Accortt NA, Waterbor JW, Beall C, Howard G, 2002. Chronic disease mortality in a cohort of smokeless tobacco users. Am J Epidemiol 156, 730-737.
- 5. Huhtasaari F, Asplund K, Lundberg V, Stegmayr B, Wester PO, 1992. Tobacco and myocardial infarction: is snuff less dangerous than cigarettes? BMJ 305, 1252-1256.
- 6. Asplund K, Nasic S, Janlert U, Stegmayr B, 2003. Smokeless tobacco as a possible risk factor for stroke in men: a nested case-control study. Stroke 34, 1754-1759.
- 7. Hergens M, Ahlbom A, Andersson T, Pershagen G, 2005. Swedish moist snuff and myocardial infarction among men. Epidemiol 16, 12-16.
- Johansson S, Sundquist K, Qvist J, Sundquist J, 2005. Smokeless tobacco and coronary heart disease: a 12-year follow-up study. J Cardiovasc Prevent Rehab 12: 387-392.
- 9. Hergens M, Alfredsson L, Bolinder G, Lambe M, Pershagen G, Ye W, 2007. Long-term use of Swedish moist snuff and the risk of myocardial infarction amongst men. J Int Med 262, 351-359.
- Wennberg P, Eliasson M, Hallmans G, Johansson L, Boman K, Jansson J, 2007. The risk of myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death amongst snuff users with or without a previous history of smoking. J Int Med 262, 360-367.
- 11. Henley SJ, Thun MJ, Connell C, Calle EE, 2005. Two large prospective studies of mortality among men who use snuff or chewing tobacco (United States). Cancer Cause Contr 16, 347-358.
- Bolinder G, Alfredsson L, Englund A, de Faire U, 1995. Smokeless tobacco use and increased cardiovascular mortality among Swedish construction workers. Am J Pub Health 84, 399-404
- 13. Asplund K, 2003. Smokeless tobacco and cardiovascular disease. Progr Cardiovasc Dis 45, 383-394.
- 14. Royal College of Physicians, 2007. Harm reduction in nicotine addiction: helping people who can't quit. A report by the Tobacco Advisory Group of the Royal College of Physicians. London, United Kingdom.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 15 of 37

- Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR). Health Effects of Smokeless Tobacco Products. Health & Consumer Protection, Directorate-General, European Commission, 6 February 2008. Available at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/committees/04_scenihr/docs/scenihr_o_013.pdf</u>
- Foulds J, Kozlowski L. Snus [smokeless tobacco] what should the public-health response be? Lancet 369: 1976-1978, 2007.
- World Health Organization, 1978. Definition of leukoplakia and related lesions: an aid to studies on oral precancer. Oral Surgery 46, 518-539.
- Axell T, Holmstrup P, Kramer IRH, Pindborg JJ, Shear M, 1984. International seminar on oral leukoplakias and associated lesions related to tobacco habits. Comm Dent Oral Epidemiol 12, 145-154.
- 19. Bouquot JE, 1991. Reviewing oral leukoplakia: clinical concepts for the 1990s. J Am Dent Assoc 122, 80-82.
- 20. Bouquot JE, Gorlin RJ, 1986. Leukoplakia, lichen planus, and other oral keratoses in 23,616 white Americans over the age of 35 years. Oral Surg 61, 373-381.
- Bouquot JE, Weiland L, Ballard D, Kurland L, 1988. Leukoplakia of the mouth and pharynx in Rochester, MN. 1935-1984. Incidence, Clinical features and follow-up of 463 patients from a relatively unbiased patient pool. J Oral Pathol 17, 436.
- 22. Silverman S, Gorsky M, 1990. Epidemiologic and demographic update in oral cancer: California and national data-1973 to 1985. JADA 120, 495-499.
- 23. Grady D, Greene J, Daniels TE et al, 1990. Oral mucosal lesions found in smokeless tobacco users. JADA 121, 117-123.
- 24. Sinusas K, Coroso JG, Sopher MD, Carbtree BF, 1992. Smokeless tobacco use and oral pathology in a professional baseball organization. J Fam Pract 34, 713-718.
- 25. Greer RO, Poulson TC, 1983. Oral tissue alteration associated with the use of smokeless tobacco by teenagers. part 1. clinical findings. Oral Surg 56, 275-84.
- 26. Greene JC, Ernster VL, Grady DG, et al, 1993. Oral mucosal lesions: Clinical findings in relation to smokeless tobacco use among U.S. baseball players. Monograph. 2; Smokeless tobacco or health, An International Perspective. NIH publication No 93-3461 pp. 41-50.
- 27. Greer RO, Poulson TC, Boone ME, et al, 1986. Smokeless tobacco associated oral changes in juvenile, adult and geriatic patients: Clinical and histomorphologic features. Gerodontics 2, 87-98.
- 28. Andersson G, Axell T, 1989. Clinical appearance of lesions associated with the use of loose and portion-bag packed Swedish moist snuff: a comparative study. J Oral Pathol Med 18, 2-7.
- 29. Smith JF, Mincer HA, Hopkins KP, Bell J, 1970. Snuff-dipper's lesion. A cytological and pathological study in a large population. Arch Otolarynngol 92, 450-456.
- 30. Roed-Petersen B, Pindborg JJ, 1973. A study of snuff induced oral leukoplakias. J Oral Pathol 2, 301-313.
- 31. Axell T, Mornstad H, Sundstrom B, 1976. The relation of the clinical picture to the histopathology of snuff dipper's lesions in a Swedish population. J Oral Pathol 5, 229-236.
- Bouquot J, Schroeder K, 1993. Oral leukoplakia and smokeless tobacco keratoses are two separate and distinctive precancers. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 76, 588-589.
- Mincer HH, Coleman SA, Hopkins KP, 1972. Observations on the clinical characteristics of oral lesions showing histologic epithelial dysplasia. Oral Surg 33, 389-399.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 16 of 37

- 34. Kaugars GE, Mehailescu WL, Gunsolley JC, 1989. Smokeless tobacco use and oral epithelial dysplasia. Cancer 64, 1527-1530.
- 35. Waldron CA, Shaffer G, 1975. Leukoplakia revisited. A clinicopathologic study 3256 oral leukoplakias. Cancer 36,1386-1392.
- 36. Smith JF, 1975. Snuff-dippers lesions. A ten-year follow-up. Arch Otolaryngol 101, 276-277.
- 37. Christen AG, Mcdonald JL, Christen JA, 1991. The impact of tobacco use and cessation on nonmaligant and precancerous oral and dental diseases and condition. An Indiana University School of Dentistry Teaching Monograph. Precancerous condition; June 1991: pp. 7-13.
- Axell T, Mornstad H, Sundstrom B, 1978. Snuff and cancer of the oral cavity. A retrospective study. Laekartidningen 75, 1224-1226.
- 39. Roosar A, Johansson ALV, Sandborgh-Englund G, Nyren O, Axell T, 2006. A long-term follow-up study on the natural course of snus-induced lesions among Swedish snus users. Int J Cancer 119, 392-397.
- 40. Silverman S Jr, Gorsky M, Lozada F, 1984. Oral leukoplakia and malignant transformation: a follow-up study of 257 patients. Cancer 36, 563-568.
- 41. Kallischnigg G, Weitkunat R, Lee PN, 2008. Systematic review of the relation between smokeless tobacco and non-neoplastic oral diseases in Europe and the United States. BMC Oral Health 8: 13.
- 42. Rodu B, Cole P, 2002. Smokeless tobacco use and cancer of the upper respiratory tract. Oral Surg 93, 511-515.
- 43. Vogler WR, Lloyd JW, Milmore BK, 1962. A retrospective study of etiological factors in cancer of the mouth, pharynx, and larynx. Cancer 15, 246-258.
- 44. Wynder EL, Stellman SD, 1977. Comparative epidemiology of tobacco-related cancers. Cancer Res 37, 4608-4622.
- 45. Browne RM, Camsey MC, Waterhouse JAH, Manning GL,1977. Etiological factors in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Comm Dent Oral Epidemiol 5, 301-306.
- 46. Blot WJ, McLaughlin JK, Winn DM, Austin DF, Greenberg RS, Preston-Martin S, Bernstein L, Schoenberg JB, Stemhagen A, Fraumeni JF, 1988. Smoking and drinking in relation to oral and pharyngeal cancer. Cancer Res 48, 3282-3287.
- 47. Spitz MR, Fueger JJ, Goepfert H, Hong NK, Newell GR, 1988. Squamous cell carcinoma of the upper aerodigestive tract. Cancer 61, 203-208.
- 48. Mashberg A, Boffetta P, Winkelman R, Garfinkel L, 1993. Tobacco smoking, alcohol drinking, and cancer of the oral cavity and oropharynx among U.S. veterans. Cancer 72: 1369-1375.
- 49. Kabat GC, Chang CJ, Wynder EL, 1994. The role of tobacco, alcohol use, and body mass index in oral and pharyngeal cancer. Int J Epidemiol 23, 1137-1144.
- 50. Muscat JE, Richie JP, Thompson S, Wynder EL, 1996. Gender differences in smoking and risk for oral cancer. Cancer Res 56, 5192-5197.
- 51. Schildt EB, Eriksson M, Hardell L, Magnuson A, 1998. Oral snuff, smoking habits and alcohol consumption in relation to oral cancer in a Swedish case-control study. Int J Cancer 77, 341-346.
- 52. Lewin F, Norell SE, Johansson H, Gustavsson P, Wennerberg J, Biörklund A, Rutqvist LE, 1998. Smoking tobacco, oral snuff, and alcohol in the etiology of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: a populationbased case-referent study in Sweden. Cancer 82: 1367-1375.
- 53. European Commission, 2001. Directive 2001/37/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. June 5, 2001. Available at: <u>http://europa.eu.int/eur-lex/pri/en/oj/dat/2001/1 194/1 19420010718en00260034.pdf</u>
- 54. Winn DM, Blot WJ, Shy CM, Pickle LW, Toledo A, Fraumeni JF, 1981. Snuff dipping and oral cancer among women in the Southern United States. N Engl J Med 304, 745-749.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 17 of 37

- 55. Wynder EL, Bross IJ, Feldman RM, 1957. A study of the etiological factors in cancer of the mouth. Cancer 10, 1300-1323.
- 56. Wynder EL, Hultberg S, Jacobsson F, Bross IJ, 1957. Environmental factors in cancer of the upper alimentary tract: a Swedish study with special reference to Plummer-Vinson (Patterson-Kelly) syndrome. Cancer 10, 470-487.
- 57. Peacock EE, Greenberg BG, Brawley BW, 1960. The effect of snuff and tobacco on the production of oral carcinoma: an experimental and epidemiological study. Ann Surg 151, 542-550.
- 58. Vincent RG, Marchetta F, 1963. The relationship of the use of tobacco and alcohol to cancer of the oral cavity, pharynx or larynx. Am J Surg 106, 501-505.
- 59. Martinez I, 1969. Factors associated with cancer of the esophagus, mouth, and pharynx in Puerto Rico. JNCI 42, 1069-1094.
- 60. Maden C, Beckmann AM, Thomas DB, McKnight B, Sherman KJ, Ashley RL, Corey L, Daling JR, 1992. Human papillomaviruses, herpes simplex viruses, and the risk of oral cancer in men. Am J Epidemiol 135, 1093-1102.
- Schwartz SM, Daling JR, Doody DR, Wipf GC, Carter JJ, Madeleine MM, Mao EJ, Fitzgibbons ED, Huang S, Beckmann AM, McDougall JK, Galloway DA, 1998. Oral cancer risk in relation to sexual history and evidence of human papillomavirus infection. JNCI 90, 1626-1636.
- 62. Mattson ME, Winn DM, 1989. Smokeless tobacco: association with increased cancer risk. NCI Monographs 8: 13-16.
- 63. International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2007. Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Volume 89: Smokeless tobacco and some tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines. Lyon, France.
- 64. Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR), 2008. Health Effects of Smokeless Tobacco Products. European Commission.
- 65. Winn DM, 1984. Tobacco chewing and snuff dipping: an association with human cancer. In O'Neill IK et al. N-Nitroso Compounds: Occurrence, Biological Effects and Relevance to Human Cancer. IARC Scientific Publications No. 57, Lyon, France.
- 66. Winn DM, 1986. Smokeless tobacco and oral/pharynx cancer: the role of cofactors. In Hoffmann D, Harris CC. Mechanisms in tobacco carcinogenesis. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory (Banbury Reports 23).
- 67. Accortt NA, Waterbor JW, Beall C, Howard G, 2002. Chronic disease mortality in a cohort of smokeless tobacco users. Am J Epidemiol 156, 730-737.
- 68. Accortt NA, Waterbor JW, Beall C, Howard B, 2005. Cancer incidence among a cohort of smokeless tobacco users (United States). Cancer Causes Control 16: 1107-1115.
- 69. Henley SJ, Thun MJ, Connell C, Calle EE, 2005. Two large prospective studies of mortality among men who use snuff or chewing tobacco (United States). Cancer Cause Contr 16, 347-358.
- 70. Rosenquist K, Wennerberg J, Schildt E-B, Bladström A, Hansson BG, Andersson G, 2005. Use of Swedish moist snuff, smoking and alcohol consumption in the aetiology of oral and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. A population-based case-control study in southern Sweden. Acta Oto-Laryngol 125: 991-998.
- Luo J, Ye W, Zendehdel K, Adami J, Adami H, Boffetta P, Nyren O, 2007. Oral use of Swedish moist snuff (snus) and risk for cancer of the mouth, lung, and pancreas in male construction workers: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 369, 2015-2020.
- Waterbor J, Adams R, Robinson J, Crabtree FG, Accortt NA, Gillaland MJ, 2004. Disparities between public health educational materials and the scientific evidence that smokeless tobacco use causes cancer. J Cancer Educ 19, 17-28.
- 73. Weitkunat R, Sanders E, Lee PN, 2007. Meta-analysis of the relation between European and American smokeless tobacco and oral cancer. BMC Public Health 7:334.
- 74. Alguacil J, Silverman DT, 2004. Smokeless and other noncigarette tobacco use and pancreatic cancer: a casecontrol study based on direct interviews. Cancer Epi Biom Prev 13: 55-58.
- 75. Silverman DT, Schiffman M, Everhart J, Goldstein A, Lillemoe KD, Swanson GM, Schwartz AG, Brown LM, Greenberg RS, Schoenberg JB, Pottern LM, Hoover RN, Fraumeni JF Jr, 1999. Diabetes mellitus, other medical conditions and familial history of cancer as risk factors for pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer 80: 1830-1837.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 18 of 37

- 76. Boffetta P, Aagnes B, Weiderpass E, Andersen A, 2005. Smokeless tobacco use and risk of cancer of the pancreas and other organs. Int J Cancer 114, 992-995.
- 77. Rodu B, Cole P, 2005. A deficient study of smokeless tobacco use and cancer (letter). Int J Cancer 118, 1585.
- 78. Heuch I, Kvale G, Jacobsen BK, Bjelke E, 1983. Use of alcohol, tobacco and coffee, and risk of pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer 48, 637-643.
- Hassan MM, Abbruzzese JL, Bondy ML, Wolff RA, Vauthey J, Pisters PW, Evans DB, Khan R, Lenzi R, Jiao L, Li D, 2007. Passive smoking and use of noncigarette tobacco products in association with risk for pancreatic cancer: a case-control study. Cancer 109, 2547-2556.
- 80. Chapman, S. Going too far? Exploring the limits of smoking regulations. Going Too Far? Proceedings of the Tobacco Control Legal Consortium October 23, 2007, pages 1605-1619 <u>http://tclconline.org/symposium-proceedings.html</u> accessed August 19, 2008
- 81. Russell MAH, Jarvis MJ, Feyerabend C, 1980. A new age for snuff? Lancet 1, 474-475.
- 82. Kirkland LR, 1980. The nonsmoking uses of tobacco. New Engl J Med 303, 165.
- 83. Russell MAH, Jarvis MJ, Devitt G, Feyerabend C, 1981. Nicotine intake by snuff users. BMJ 283, 814-817.
- Russell MAH, Jarvis MJ, West RJ, Feyerabend C, 1985. Buccal absorption of nicotine from smokeless tobacco sachets. Lancet 2, 1370.
- 85. Kozlowski LT, 1984. Pharmacological approaches to smoking modification. In: Matarazzo JD, Weiss SM, Herd JA, Miller NE, Weiss SM (eds.) Behavioral Health. A handbook of health enhancement and disease prevention. John Wiley & Sons, New York; Chapter 45, pp. 713-728.
- 86. Kozlowski LT, 1984. Less-hazardous tobacco use as a treatment for the "smoking and health" problem. In: Smart RG, Cappell HD, Glaser FB, Israel Y, Kalant H, Popham RE, Schmidt W, Sellers EM (eds.) Research Advances in Alcohol and Drug Problems. Volume 8. Plenum Press, New York; Chapter 11, pp. 309-329.
- Kozlowski LT, 1989. Reduction of tobacco health hazards in continuing users: individual behavioral and public health approaches. J Substance Abuse 1, 345-347.
- 88. Rodu B, 1994. An alternative approach to smoking control. Am J Med Sci 308, 32-34.
- 89. Rodu B, Cole P, 1994. Tobacco-related mortality. Nature 370, 184.
- 90. Rodu B, Cole P, 1995. The rewards of smoking cessation. Epidemiol 7, 111-112.
- 91. Stratton K, Shetty P, Wallace R, Bondurant S (eds), 2001. Clearing the smoke. Assessing the science base for tobacco harm reduction. Institute of Medicine. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- 92. United Nations Focal Point on Tobacco or Health. Social and economic aspects of reduction of tobacco smoking by use of alternative nicotine delivery systems (ANDS). September 22-24, 1997 (ISBN 1 898970 72 6).
- 93. Ahlbom A, Olsson UA, Pershagen G, 1997. Health risks associated with moist snuff. Socialstyrelsen (Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare), Stockholm, Sweden.
- 94. Royal College of Physicians of London, 2002. Protecting Smokers, Saving Lives: The case for a Tobacco and Nicotine Authority, London. Available at: <u>http://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/pubs/books/protsmokers/index.asp</u>
- 95. Levy DT, Mumford EA, Cummings KM, Gilpin EA, Giovino G, Hyland A, Sweanor D, Warner KE, 2004. The relative risks of a low-nitrosamine smokeless tobacco product compared with smoking cigarettes: estimates of a panel of experts. Cancer Epidemiol Biom Prev 13, 2035-2042.
- 96. Phillips CV, Rabiu D, Rodu B, 2006. Calculating the comparative mortality risk from smokeless tobacco versus smoking. Congress of Epidemiology, June 23, 2006.
- 97. Rodu B, Cole P, 1996. The rewards of smoking cessation. Epidemiol 7, 111-112.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 19 of 37

Whereas # 2 – Elimination of environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) and fire-related hazards

It is obvious, but by no means insignificant, that transitioning smokers to selected ST products will entirely eliminate environmental tobacco smoke and fire-related hazards for both smokers and everyone else. According to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, ETS is responsible for 150,000–300,000 new cases of bronchitis and pneumonia in children aged less than 18 months, resulting in 7,500–15,000 hospitalizations, annually [1]. The California Environmental Protection Agency estimates that ETS causes approximately 3,000 lung cancer deaths and 35,000 heart disease deaths annually among adult nonsmokers in the United States [2].

In February of 2008, the European Commission released a report on the health effects of ST products that included the following statement:

"Since ST products do not produce smoke they will not cause any of the health problems linked to passive smoke exposure in adults or children. Substitution of snus for smoked tobacco would therefore prevent the passive smoke-related diseases [3]

- National Institutes of Health. National Cancer Institute. Respiratory Health Effects of Passive Smoking: Lung Cancer and Other Disorders: The Report of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Smoking and Tobacco Control Monograph Number 4. NIH Publication No. 93-3605, Washington, D.C., August 1993.
- California Environmental Protection Agency. <u>Proposed Identification of Environmental Tobacco Smoke as a Toxic Air Contaminant</u>. Final report, September 29, 2005, approved by Scientific Review Panel on June 24, 2005 [cited 2006 Sep 27]. Available from: <u>http://www.arb.ca.gov/toxics/ets/ets.htm</u>.
- 3. Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR). Health Effects of Smokeless Tobacco Products. Health & Consumer Protection, Directorate-General, European Commission, 6 February 2008. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/committees/04_scenihr/docs/scenihr_0_013.pdf

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 20 of 37

Whereas # 3 – "Abstain, quit, or die" may have reached maximum achievable benefit

In a 2007 commentary published in the Lancet, Foulds and Kozlowski noted that:

"Around a billion people are addicted to nicotine in deadly cigarettes and many have no immediate plans to quit. Young people will also continue to try dangerous and addictive products. We believe it is preferable that, if people become addicted to cigarettes or decide to try tobacco, they can use a product that is markedly less harmful than cigarettes. In Sweden, primary use of [ST] is associated with reduced risk of cigarette smoking in adulthood. The Lancet papers published today, when added to mounting epidemiological evidence, indicate that we should not delay in allowing [ST] to compete with cigarettes for market share, and we should be prepared to accurately inform smokers about the relative risks of cigarettes, [ST], and approved smoking-cessation medications. In light of all the available evidence, the banning or exaggerated opposition to [ST] in cigarette-rife environments is not sound public-health policy." [1]

In a 2008 Lancet article, Britton and Edwards lamented the lack of progress against smoking and urged governments to incorporate tobacco harm reduction into tobacco regulatory frameworks:

"In the 50 years since the health risks of smoking first became widely recognized, the political and public health responses to smoking at national and international levels have been grossly inadequate...A logical harm reduction approach for the millions of smokers who are unlikely to achieve complete abstinence in the short-term or medium-term future is to promote the substitution of tobacco smoking with an alternative, less hazardous means of obtaining nicotine...We believe that the absence of effective harm reduction strategies for smokers is perverse, unjust, and acts against the rights and best interests of smokers and the public health....The regulatory framework should therefore apply the levers of affordability, promotion, and availability in direct inverse relation to the hazard of the product, thus creating the most favourable market environment for the least hazardous products while also strongly discouraging use of smoked tobacco." [2]

Sweanor et al. assessed the global public health implications of tobacco harm reduction in a 2007 article in the International Journal of Drug Policy:

"Were the world's 1.3 billion cigarette smokers acquiring their nicotine from clean delivery systems rather than through repeated inhalation of smoke, nicotine use would likely not rank much higher than caffeine use as a public health priority...The consumer who rejects (or cannot achieve) abstinence but will use a product that reduces risk by 90% should not be prevented from making that preferred choice. Indeed, it is exactly the forced choice between smoking and abstinence that reinforces the current dominance of cigarettes...The relative safety of ST and other smokefree systems for delivering nicotine demolishes the claim that abstinence-only approaches to tobacco are rational public health campaigns...Applying harm reduction principles to public health policies on tobacco/nicotine is more than simply a rational and humane policy. It is more than a pragmatic response to a market that is, anyway, already in the process of undergoing significant changes. It has the potential to lead to one of the greatest public health breakthroughs in human history by fundamentally changing the forecast of a billion cigarette-caused deaths this century." [3]

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 21 of 37

- 1. Foulds J, Kozlowski L. Snus [smokeless tobacco] what should the public-health response be? Lancet 369: 1976-1978, 2007.
- 2. Britton J, Edwards R. Tobacco smoking, harm reduction, and nicotine product regulation. Lancet 371: 441-445, 2008.
- 3. Sweanor D, Alcabes P, Drucker E. Tobacco harm reduction: how rational public policy could transform a pandemic. International Journal of Drug Policy 18: 70-74, 2007.

Whereas # 4 – Harm Reduction works and can be accomplished in a way that will not increase initiation or decrease cessation

Evidence that ST is an Effective Substitute for Cigarettes

In 2008 Rodu and Phillips provided the first population-level evidence that over a quarter of a million American men have quit smoking by switching to ST [1]. The study showed that switching to ST resulted in over twice the proportion of former smokers (73%) than the nicotine patch (35%), gum (34%), inhaler (28%) or nasal spray (0%). It is particularly striking that an estimated 359,000 smokers tried to stop smoking by switching to ST – and over a quarter of a million became former smokers – especially since Americans are largely misinformed about the health risks of ST use [2,3]. It is safe to assume that rates of switching would increase substantially if smokers knew that switching to ST achieves almost all of the health benefits as quitting tobacco and nicotine altogether [4].

The comparison between ST and pharmaceutical nicotine also proves enlightening, especially in a broad social context. Nicotine gum and the nicotine patch have been available since 1984 and 1992 respectively [5]. Both products achieved non-prescription status in 1996, and that year the manufacturer conducted a large promotional campaign in conjunction with the ACS Great American Smokeout [6]. In 1999 an estimated \$200 million was spent on print and broadcast advertising for smoking cessation products [7].

In contrast to the heavy promotion and advertising of pharmaceutical nicotine products for smoking cessation in the late 1990s, the environment for ST products was quite negative. A ban on broadcast advertising of ST had been established as early as 1986 [8], so the estimated \$170 million spent on advertising in 1999 was restricted largely to print media [9]. Not only were manufacturers effectively prohibited from offering ST products as reduced-risk options for smokers, a countermarketing program was launched by congressional legislation in 1986, in the form of one of three mandatory warning statements on every package of ST sold in the U.S.: "This product is not a safe alternative to cigarettes" [8]. In addition, major efforts have been made by the American tobacco control community to impede any widespread transition from cigarettes to ST [2,3]. Despite the pro-pharmaceutical and anti-ST climate, an estimated 261,000 men had used smokeless tobacco to quit smoking by the year 2000. While this number is lower than the number who had successfully used either nicotine gum or antidepressants, and far more than the number who were successful with other pharmaceutical nicotine products.

Unfortunately, no information on switching to ST is available in subsequent NHIS surveys, because that option was removed when the Cancer Control module next appeared, in the 2005 NHIS [10].

One clinical trial, an open-label, nonrandomized pilot study, has been conducted assessing the efficacy of an ST product in helping cigarette smokers become smoke-free. The investigators used a low-intensity approach, consisting of a 20-minute lecture about the health effects of all forms of tobacco use, followed by information about and samples of pre-portioned single-dose tobacco packets available throughout the U.S. The investigators used exhaled carbon monoxide levels to validate participant self-reports regarding smoke-free status at the conclusion of the original study after one year [11] and after seven years of follow-up [12].

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 23 of 37

Of 63 subjects starting the study, 16 had successfully quit smoking by switching to ST after one year, and 12 were still smoke-free after seven years. At enrollment, the average cigarette consumption of the successful participants had been 1.5 packs per day. One year later average consumption of ST was 2.3 packages per week among the 13 successful quitters using ST (3 were tobacco-free). Four additional participants had used ST to reduce their cigarette consumption by at least 50%.

For the past 100 years, cigarette smoking has been the dominant form of tobacco consumption in almost all developed countries. One notable exception is Sweden, where smoking rates, especially among men, have been considerably lower than those of comparable countries for decades. (An ACSH article provides historical background on Swedish snus [13]). Over the past 50 years Swedish men have had the lowest rates of smoking-related cancers of the lung, larynx, mouth and bladder in Europe [14], and the lowest percentage of male deaths related to smoking of all developed countries [15,16].

A 2004 study revealed that if men in the (15-country) EU had the smoking prevalence of Sweden, almost 200,000 deaths attributable to smoking would be avoided each year [17]. In contrast, women in Sweden smoke at rates similar to women in other European countries. This is reflected in similar rates of smoking-related illnesses among women.

As Fagerström pointed out in a recent study, per capita consumption of nicotine from tobacco in Sweden is quite high and on par with other countries such as Denmark, the U.S. and Austria [18]. The difference between Sweden and the other countries is how nicotine is consumed. In Denmark, the U.S. and Austria, almost all nicotine consumption is derived from tobacco combustion. In contrast, ST use, in the form of snus, accounts for almost 50% of all contemporary nicotine consumption in Sweden. Snus use in Sweden is much more common among men than among women; over 60% of nicotine consumption among Swedish men is from snus. This is not a new phenomenon; for over a century, Swedish men have had among the world's highest per capita consumption of ST [19].

Beginning in 2002, an American-Swedish research group used a World Health Organization database to describe in detail the impact of snus use on smoking among the population in northern Sweden during the period 1986-2004 [20-22].

Among men, the prevalence of all tobacco use was stable during the study period, at about 40%. However, there were striking, and opposite, changes in prevalence of smoking and snus use. Smoking prevalence was 19% in 1986, and it was lower in all subsequent surveys, reaching 9% in 2004. The prevalence of exclusive snus use increased from 18% in 1986 to 27% by 2004. Snus use was the dominant factor in the higher prevalence of ex-smoking among men compared to women (prevalence ratio 6.18, 95% CI 4.96 - 7.70). (In other words, men were 6.18 times more likely than the women to be ex-smokers; CI = "confidence interval" This means that if we could have gathered data from all the men in Northern Sweden, there is a 95% chance the prevalence ratio would have been between 4.96 and 7.70)

Among women the prevalence of all tobacco use also was steady at 27 to 28%, and women smoked at higher rates than men in all surveys. But these studies showed that snus use was associated with lower smoking rates among women in 1999 and 2004. Smoking prevalence was about 25 to 27% in

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 24 of 37

1986, 1990 and 1994, but declined to 21% in 1999, and 16% in 2004. The prevalence of snus use was 0.5% in 1986 and increased to 1.9% in 1990, 2.0% in 1994, 5.1% in 1999 and 8.9% in 2004.

In these reports snus use was not associated with smoking initiation, as the prevalence of smoking among former snus users was low in all survey years (3-4%). The evidence showed that among adult men in northern Sweden the dominant transition is from smoking to snus, not vice versa.

In 2003, Gilljam and Galanti reported the results of a telephone survey of current and former smokers in Sweden [23]. They reported that using snus increased the probability that male smokers would be smoke-free by 50% (OR 1.54, 95% CI = 1.3-2.5). (OR = "odds ratio" can be interpreted in a similar manner as relative risk)

In 2003 Foulds et al. reviewed the evidence relating to the effects of snus use on smoking and concluded, "Snus availability in Sweden appears to have contributed to the unusually low rates of smoking among Swedish men by helping them transfer to a notably less harmful form of nicotine dependence." [24] The investigators noted that "in Sweden we have a concrete example in which availability of a less harmful tobacco product has probably worked to produce a net improvement in health in that country".

In 2005 Furberg et al examined tobacco use data from the Swedish Twin Registry, finding that regular snus use was associated with smoking cessation, not initiation, among almost 15,000 male participants [25]. Both regular and occasional snus use were protective against having ever smoked.

In 2006 Ramström and Foulds examined data from a 2001-02 nationally representative Swedish social survey [26]. They found that snus use among men was significantly protective against smoking initiation (OR = 0.3, CI 0.2-0.4). They also found that snus was the most commonly used cessation aid among men (used by 24% of men on their most recent quit attempt). Men who used snus as a quit-smoking aid were more likely to quit successfully than those using nicotine gum (OR=2.2, CI=1.3-3.7) or the patch (OR=4.2, CI=2.1-8.6), which was also true for women.

Evidence that Harm Reduction Will Not Increase Initiation

Data from research studies in Sweden and the U.S. do not show that widespread use of ST serves as a gateway to smoking, especially among youth. A 2003 policy statement published in *Tobacco Control*, coauthored by Clive Bates, former director of Action on Smoking and Health (U.K.) and five other eminent tobacco research and policy experts, dismissed the notion that ST use led to smoking in Sweden: "To the extent there is a 'gateway' it appears not to lead to smoking, but away from it and is an important reason why Sweden has the lowest rates of tobacco related disease in Europe" [27]. Foulds reached a similar conclusion: "This review suggests…that in Sweden snus has served as a pathway from smoking, rather than a gateway to smoking among Swedish men" [28].

A 2005 study examined tobacco use among 15- to 16-year old schoolchildren in Sweden over a 15year period, from 1989 to 2003 [29]. The investigators found that the prevalence of regular snus use among Swedish boys increased from about 10% to 13% from 1989 to 2003, but the prevalence of regular smoking was very low and declined, from about 10% to under 4%. The prevalence of snus use among girls was very low, and the prevalence of smoking was about double that of boys

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 25 of 37

over the entire period. The authors concluded that snus use did not appear to be a gateway to smoking among Swedish youth but instead was associated with low smoking prevalence among boys.

Other recent studies based in Sweden have come to similar conclusions. In 2005 Furberg et al. investigated whether snus use was associated with smoking initiation or smoking cessation using data from the population-based Swedish Twin Registry. They concluded that snus use was "inversely associated with initiation." [30]

In 2006 Ramström and Foulds examined data on tobacco use from a national Swedish survey. They found that "Use of snus in Sweden is associated with a reduced risk of becoming a daily smoker..." [31] With respect to these findings, the European Commission's Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks concluded that "The Swedish data...do not support the hypothesis that...snus is a gateway to future smoking." [32]

In the U.S., concomitant use of cigarettes is common among ST users [33]. However, investigators have not found credible evidence that ST use is a gateway to smoking among American youth. In 2003 Kozlowski et al. analyzed data from the 1987 NHIS survey and concluded that there was little evidence that ST use was a gateway to smoking, because the majority of ST users had never smoked or had smoked cigarettes prior to using ST [34]. The investigators noted that their results coincided with earlier work from Sweden and with a tobacco industry-sponsored survey from 1984 [35].

In 2003 O'Connor et al. examined data from the 2000 National Household Survey on Drug Abuse [36]. They described the impact of ST use on subsequent cigarette smoking initiation as "minimal at best." O'Connor et al. also examined data from the CDC's Teenage Attitudes and Practices Survey for evidence that ST use served as a gateway to smoking among youth [37]. They concluded that ST use was not associated with smoking initiation after appropriate control for confounding by well-recognized psychosocial predictors of smoking. This is in contrast to an earlier report that did not control for confounding and found a positive association [38].

Claims of a gateway effect persist, even with lack of credible evidence, prompting O'Connor et al. to note in 2005, "Continued evasion of the [harm reduction] issue based on claims that ST can cause smoking seems, to us, to be an unethical violation of the human right to honest, health-relevant information" [39].

- 1. Rodu B., Phillips C.V. Switching to smokeless tobacco as a smoking cessation method: evidence from the 2000 National Health Interview Survey. Harm Reduction Journal 5: 18, 2008 (Open Access, available at <u>http://www.harmreductionjournal.com/content/pdf/1477-7517-5-18.pdf</u>
- Rodu B, Godshall WT, 2006. Tobacco harm reduction: an alternative cessation strategy for inveterate smokers. Harm Reduction J 3:37. Open access, available at: <u>http://www.harmreductionjournal.com/content/3/1/37</u> (Accessed May 5, 2008)
- Phillips CV, Wang C, Guenzel B, 2005. You might as well smoke; the misleading and harmful public health message about smokeless tobacco. BMC Public Health 5:31. Open access, available at: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/5/31</u> (Accessed May 5, 2008)

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 26 of 37

- 4. Royal College of Physicians, 2007. Harm reduction in nicotine addiction: helping people who can't quit. A report by the Tobacco Advisory Group of the Royal College of Physicians. London, United Kingdom.
- 5. Cummings KM, Hyland A: Impact of nicotine replacement therapy on smoking behavior. *Ann Rev Public Health* 2005, 26:583-599.
- Burton SL, Kemper KE, Baxter TA, Shiffman S, Gitchell J, Currence C: Impact of Promotion of the Great American Smokeout and Availability of Over-the-Counter Nicotine Medications, 1996. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 1997, 46:867-869.
- 7. Avery RJ, Kenkel DS, Lillard DR, Mathios AD: Regulating advertisements: the case of smoking cessation products. National Bureau of Economic Research, Working paper no. 12001, 2006.
- Masironi R: WHO Strategies to curb smokeless tobacco: a global perspective. In Smokeless Tobacco or Health: An International Perspective. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, NIH Publication No. 93-3461, pp 315-322, 1993.
- 9. U.S. Federal Trade Commission (2003). Smokeless tobacco report for the years 2000 and 2001. Available at: http://www.ftc.gov/os/2003/08/2k2k1smokeless.pdf
- 10. U.S. NHIS Questionnaire, 2005. Available at: <u>ftp://ftp.cdc.gov/pub/Health_Statistics/NCHS/Survey_Questionnaires/NHIS/2005/English/QCANCER.pdf</u>
- 11. Tilashalski K, Rodu B, Cole, P, 1998. A pilot study of smokeless tobacco in smoking cessation. Am J Med 104: 456-458.
- 12. Tilashalski K, Rodu B, Cole, P, 2005. Seven year follow-up of smoking cessation with smokeless tobacco. J Pscyh Drugs 37, 105-108.
- 13. Rodu B, 2004. Swedish Tobacco Use: Smoking, Smokeless and History. ACSH Health Facts and Fears. [http://www.acsh.org/factsfears/newsID.362/news_detail.asp]
- LaVecchia C, Lucchini F, Negri E, Boyle P, Maisoneuve P, Levi F, 1992. Trends of cancer mortality in Europe, 1955-1989: II and IV. Eur J Cancer 28, 514-599; 28A, 1210-1281.
- 15. Peto R, Lopez AD, Boreham J, Thun M, Heath C Jr., 1992. Mortality from tobacco in developed countries: indirect estimation from national vital statistics. Lancet 339, 1268-1278.
- 16. Peto R, Lopez AD, Boreham J, Thun M, 2006. Mortality from Smoking in Developed Countries 1950-2000, (2nd edition, revised June 2006). CTSU, Oxford University 2006, available at <u>www.ctsu.ox.ac.uk/~tobacco/</u>.
- 17. Rodu B, Cole P, 2004. The burden of mortality from smoking: comparing Sweden with other countries in the European Union. Europ J Epidemiol 19, 129-131.
- Fagerström K, 2005. The nicotine market: an attempt to estimate the nicotine intake from various sources and the total nicotine consumption in some countries. Nic Tob Res 7, 343-350.
- 19. Nordgren P, Ramström L, 1990. Moist snuff in Sweden: tradition and evolution. Br J Addict 85, 1107-1112.
- Rodu, B, Stegmayr, B, Nasic, S, Asplund, K, 2002. Impact of smokeless tobacco use on smoking in northern Sweden. J Int Med 252, 398-404.
- Rodu, B, Stegmayr, B, Nasic, S, Cole, P, and Asplund, K, 2003. Evolving patterns of tobacco use in northern Sweden. J Int Med 253, 660-665.
- 22. Stegmayr B, Eliasson M, Rodu B, 2005. The decline of smoking in northern Sweden. Scand J Public Health 33, 321-324.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 27 of 37

- 23. Gilljam H, Galanti MR, 2003. Role of snus (oral moist snuff) in smoking cessation and smoking reduction in Sweden. Addiction 98, 1183-1189.
- 24. Foulds J, Ramström L, Burke M, Fagerström K, 2003. Effect of smokeless tobacco (snus) on smoking and public health in Sweden. Tob Control 12, 349-359.
- 25. Furberg H, Bulik CM, Lerman C, Lichtenstein P, Pedersen NL, Sullivan PF, 2005. Is Swedish snus associated with smoking initiation or smoking cessation? Tob Control 14, 422-424.
- 26. Ramström L, Foulds J, 2006. Role of snus in initiation and cessation of tobacco smoking in Sweden. Tob Control 15, 210-214.
- 27. Bates C, Fagerstrom K, Jarvis MJ, Kunze M, McNeill A, Ramström L, 2003. European Union policy on smokeless tobacco: a statement in favour of evidence based regulation for public health. Tob Control 12, 360-367.
- 28. Foulds J, Ramström L, Burke M, Fagerström K, 2003. Effect of smokeless tobacco (snus) on smoking and public health in Sweden. Tob Control 12, 349-359.
- 29. Rodu B, Nasic S, Cole P, 2005. Tobacco use among Swedish schoolchildren. Tob Control 14, 405-408.
- 30. Furberg H, Bulik CM, Lerman C, Lichtenstein P, Pedersen NL, Sullivan PF, 2005. Is Swedish snus associated with smoking initiation or smoking cessation? Tob Control 14, 422-424.
- Ramström LM, Foulds J, 2006. Role of snus in initiation and cessation of tobacco smoking in Sweden. Tob Control 15, 210-214.
- Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR). Health Effects of Smokeless Tobacco Products. Health & Consumer Protection, Directorate-General, European Commission, 6 February 2008. Available at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/committees/04_scenihr/docs/scenihr_o_013.pdf</u>
- Wetter DW, McClure JB, de Moor C, Cofta-Gunn L, Cummings S, Cinciripini PM, Gritz ER, 2002. Concomitant use of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco: prevalence, correlates, and predictors of tobacco cessation. Prev Med 34, 638-648.
- 34. Kozlowski LT, O'Connor, Edwards BQ, Flaherty BP, 2003. Most smokeless tobacco use is not a causal gateway to cigarettes: using order of product use to evaluate causation in a national U.S. sample. Addiction 98, 1077-1085.
- 35. Miller K, 1984. Smokeless Tobacco Study Atlanta/Florida, Philip Morris U.S.A. Marketing Research Department Report.
- 36. O'Connor RJ, Kozlowski LT, Flaherty BP, Edwards BQ, 2005. Most smokeless tobacco use does not cause cigarette smoking: results from the 2000 National Household Survey on Drug Abuse. Addict Behav 30, 325-336.
- 37. O'Connor RJ, Flaherty BP, Edwards BQ, Kozlowski LT, 2003. Regular smokeless tobacco use is not a reliable predictor of smoking onset when psychosocial predictors are included in the model. Nic Tob Res 5, 535-543.
- Tomar SL, 2003. Is use of smokeless tobacco a risk factor for cigarette smoking? The U.S. experience. Nic Tob Res 5, 545-553.
- 39. O'Connor RJ, Hyland A, Giovino G, et al, 2005. Smoker awareness of and beliefs about supposedly less-harmful tobacco products, Am J Prev Med 29, 85-90.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 28 of 37

Whereas # 5 -- Agencies and Organizations endorsing harm reduction

In 2002 Britain's Royal College of Physicians, one of the world's most prestigious medical societies, issued a report on tobacco regulation in the United Kingdom called "Protecting Smokers, Saving Lives." [1] As noted earlier, this report stated "As a way of using nicotine, the consumption of non-combustible [smokeless] tobacco is on the order of 10-1,000 times less hazardous than smoking, depending on the product." The report continued with an implicit endorsement of tobacco harm reduction, acknowledging that some smokeless manufacturers may want to market their products "as a 'harm reduction' option for nicotine users, and they may find support for that in the public health community."

In 2007 the Royal College issued an even stronger endorsement of tobacco harm reduction [2]. The report concluded:

"...that smokers smoke predominantly for nicotine, that nicotine itself is not especially hazardous, and that if nicotine could be provided in a form that is acceptable and effective as a cigarette substitute, millions of lives could be saved... Harm reduction is a fundamental component of many aspects of medicine and, indeed, everyday life, yet for some reason effective harm reduction principles have not been applied to tobacco smoking."

"Compiled by leading experts in the field, this report makes the case for harm reduction strategies to protect smokers. It demonstrates that smokers smoke predominantly for nicotine, that nicotine itself is not especially hazardous, and that if nicotine could be provided in a form that is acceptable and effective as a cigarette substitute, millions of lives could be saved."

"Harm reduction is a fundamental component of many aspects of medicine and indeed everyday life, yet for some reason effective harm reduction principles have not been applied to tobacco smoking. This report makes the case for radical reform to the way that nicotine products are regulated and used in society. The ideas presented are controversial, and challenge many current and entrenched views in medicine and public health. The principles behind them have the potential to save millions of lives. They deserve consideration."

In 2006 the American Council on Science and Health (ACSH) became the first American organization to endorse tobacco harm reduction. ACSH has been a recognized leader of smoking control for several decades. And it has held the tobacco industry accountable for its part of the devastating toll from tobacco. ACSH founder Elizabeth Whelan published a landmark antismoking book, *A Smoking Gun?: How the Tobacco Industry Gets Away with Murder* [3]. The mission of the ACSH is to promote sound science in regulation, in public policy, and in the courtroom and to assist consumers, via the media, in distinguishing real health threats from purely hypothetical ones. ACSH believes that strong support of tobacco harm reduction is fully consistent with this mission; there is a strong scientific and medical foundation for tobacco harm reduction, and it shows great potential as a public health strategy to help millions of smokers.

- 1. Royal College of Physicians of London. Protecting Smokers, Saving Lives. London, 2002. Available at: http://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/pubs/books/protsmokers/index.asp
- 2. Royal College of Physicians of London. Harm reduction in nicotine addiction: helping people who can't quit. London, 2007. Available at: <u>http://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/pubs/brochure.aspx?e=234</u>
- 3. Whelan EM, A Smoking Gun: How the American Tobacco Industry Gets Away with Murder. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 1984. ISBN 0893130397.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 29 of 37

Whereas #6 – Incorrect Impression of equal risk

Americans are badly misinformed about the risks of ST use, especially in comparison with smoking. In 2005 a survey of 2,028 adult U.S. smokers found that only 10.7% correctly believed that ST products are less hazardous than cigarettes [1]. In another survey, 82% of U.S. smokers incorrectly believed that chewing tobacco is just as likely to cause cancer as smoking cigarettes [2].

A 1999-2000 survey of 36,012 young adults entering the U.S. Air Force found that 75% of males and 81% of females incorrectly believed that switching from cigarettes to ST would not result in any risk reduction, while another 16% of males and 13% of females incorrectly believed that only a small risk reduction would occur. Only 2% of males and 1% of females correctly understood that a large risk reduction would occur by switching from cigarettes to ST [3]. That survey also found that the overwhelming majority of subjects believed that switching from regular to low-tar cigarettes conferred greater reduction in risks than switching from cigarettes to ST.

It is not clear how Americans have become so confused about tobacco risks. But it is clear that misinformation about ST products is available in copious quantities from ostensibly reputable sources, including governmental health agencies and health-oriented organizations. Phillips et al have made some of the most pointed comments about this phenomenon:

"Certain health advocates believe it is acceptable to mislead people into making choices they would not otherwise make...Through the use of various tactics, advocates who oppose the use of ST as a harm reduction tool have managed to convince most people that the health risk from ST is several orders of magnitude greater than it really is. The primary tactic they use is making false or misleading scientific claims that suggest that all tobacco use is the same. . . . Apparently motivated by their hatred of all things tobacco, they are trying to convince people to not switch from an extremely unhealthy behavior to an alternative behavior that eliminates almost all of their risk" [4].

The tactic has worked in the U.S., as Americans, almost without exception and regardless of general and health education levels, believe that the risks from ST are similar to those from smoking. In particular, Americans incorrectly believe that switching from smoking to ST use will create a large increased risk for oral cancer. Phillips has characterized this popular misinformation as the "you might as well smoke" message, since it tells people that if they are using ST, they could switch to smoking with no increase in risk, while smokers considering switching to ST should not bother [5].

Phillips et al. systematically reviewed content about ST use on the web in 2003 and found that the risks of ST use are almost always conflated with those of smoking [6]. Roughly one-third of the time, there are explicit claims that ST is as bad as or worse than smoking. Most of the rest of the time the information is arranged to imply similar risks, though there is no such explicit statement. There are also a variety of specific claims that are not supported by the literature.

Government agencies, other organizations and members of the public health community have a moral obligation <u>not</u> to misinform smokers about products that have fewer risks than cigarettes. Nevertheless, researchers have exposed numerous cases of misinformation from governmental sources. For example, in 2003 Kozlowski and O'Connor criticized websites of the CDC and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration for erroneously reporting that ST products were not safer than cigarettes, pointing out that "the misleading health information on ST fails to meet the government criteria against deception in research" [6].

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 30 of 37

At a 2003 U.S. House subcommittee hearing, U.S. Surgeon General Richard Carmona testified: "I cannot conclude that the use of any tobacco product is a safer alternative to smoking...There is no significant evidence that suggests ST is a safer alternative to cigarettes." [7] Scott Leischow, at that time the Chief of the Tobacco Control Research Branch at the NCI, presented similar testimony at a concurrent hearing [8]. Carmona's statement prompted Rodu, who also presented testimony at that hearing [9], to comment that the Surgeon General was "sadly ill-informed about the nation's No. 1 health problem, cigarette smoking." Rodu strongly criticized Carmona, writing that he should be compelled to "tell American smokers the truth about all available options for quitting. After all, the 10 million smokers who will die over the next two decades are, in a very tangible way, his responsibility and his legacy" [10].

In March 2004, Ken Boehm of the National Legal & Policy Center (NLPC), a non-profit organization committed to promoting open, accountable and ethical practices in government, filed a request under the Data Quality Act (DQA) for correction of a document from the National Institute of Aging (NIA) that contained misinformation regarding the relative risks of ST versus cigarettes. (This other DQA requests on ST can be seen at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services website [11]) The request resulted in a change of wording from the original text: "Some people think ST (chewing tobacco and snuff), pipes, and cigars are **safer** than cigarettes. They are not." The revised wording from NIA was: "Some people think ST (chewing tobacco and snuff), pipes, and cigars are **safe**. They are not."

The claim that ST products are not "**safe**" is a tactic that can be traced back to the 1986 Comprehensive Smokeless Tobacco Education Act, which required as one of three warnings on all ST products: "This product is not a safe alternative to cigarettes." In 1995 Rodu criticized this warning as ludicrous and suggested that other consumer products like automobiles, lawnmowers, aspirin and red meat don't meet absolute criteria for safety [12]. A decade later, Kozlowski and Edwards criticized this type of uninformative warning in a study entitled, "'Not safe' is not enough: smokers have a right to know more than there is no safe tobacco product" [13]. These authors believe that smokers deserve more information:

"The 'not safe' or 'not harmless' messages don't address the reality that some tobacco products are substantially safer than others... Saying tobacco 'isn't safe' isn't incorrect, but it isn't saying enough. Going beyond the no safe tobacco message to provide better information on the nature of risks from tobacco products and nicotine delivery systems is necessary to respect individual rights to health relevant information."

Ken Boehm from NLPC summarized the arguments against misinformation:

"This is the kind of evidence Americans should be able to review and make their own decisions. Despite the best efforts of the largest government bureaucracy in the history of the republic, Americans still prefer to do their own thinking. And as we do our own thinking on the merits of reduced-risk products such as ST, none of us needs misinformation supplied by our own government" [14].

- 1. O'Connor RJ, Hyland A, Giovino G, et al, 2005. Smoker awareness of and beliefs about supposedly less-harmful tobacco products, Am J Prev Med 29, 85-90.
- 2. Cummings KM, 2001. Informing Consumers about the Relative Health Risks of Different Nicotine Delivery Products, presented at the National Conference on Tobacco or Health, New Orleans, LA, November 2001.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 31 of 37

- 3. Haddock CK, Lando H, Klesges RC, Peterson AL, Scarinci IC, 2004. Modified tobacco use and lifestyle change in risk-reducing beliefs about smoking. Am J Prev Med 27, 35-41.
- 4. Phillips CV, Guenzel B, Bergen P, 2006. Deconstructing anti-harm-reduction metaphors; mortality risk from falls and other traumatic injuries compared to smokeless tobacco use. Harm Red J 3, 15.
- 5. Phillips CV, Wang C, Guenzel B, 2005. You might as well smoke; the misleading and harmful public health message about smokeless tobacco. BMC Public Health 5, 31.
- 6. Kozlowski LT, O'Connor RJ, 2003. Apply federal research rules on deception to misleading health information: an example on smokeless tobacco and cigarettes. Pub Health Rep 118, 187-192.
- Carmona R, 2003. Can Tobacco Cure Smoking? A Review of Tobacco Harm Reduction, Testimony before the U.S. House Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection, Committee on Energy and Commerce June 3, 2003.
- Leischow S, The Science of Reduced Risk Tobacco Products, Testimony before the U.S. House Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection, Committee on Energy and Commerce, NCI, U.S. DHHS, June 3, 2003.
- Rodu B, 2003. Can Tobacco Cure Smoking? A Review of Tobacco Harm Reduction, Testimony before the U.S. House Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection, Committee on Energy and Commerce June 3, 2003.
- 10. Rodu B, 2003. News You Can't Use. Washington Times, June 6, 2003.
- 11. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Information Quality Web Site, [http://aspe.dhhs.gov/infoquality/requests.shtml]
- 12. Rodu B, 1995. For Smokers Only: How Smokeless Tobacco Can Save Your Life. Sulzburger and Graham, New York.
- 13. Kozlowski LT, Edwards BQ, 2005. "Not safe" is not enough: smokers have a right to know more than there is no safe tobacco product. Tob Control 14 (Suppl), 3-7.
- 14. Boehm K, 2004. Smokescreen on tobacco. Washington Times, April 7, 2004.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 32 of 37

Whereas #7 – Tax policy

Excise taxes represent a potentially valuable tool for tobacco harm reduction. In 2005, Kentucky Governor Ernie Fletcher described the rationale for a differential tax on ST products in comparison to cigarettes that reflects risk differences:

"Increasing taxes on tobacco products should have a deterring effect on their use, and therefore result in healthier lifestyles for Kentuckians. The relative taxes on tobacco products in this proposal reflect the growing data from scientific studies that although ST poses some risk, those health risks are significantly less than other forms of tobacco products. It also acknowledges that some in the public health community recognize that tobacco harm reduction should be a complementary strategy to any public health policy toward tobacco products. Taxing tobacco products according to relative risks is a rational tax policy and may well serve the public health goal of reducing smoking-related mortality and morbidity and lowering health care costs associated with tobacco-related disease." [1]

This tax policy was enacted by the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Kentucky in 2005 (KRS CHAPTER 136). In 2006 the American Council on Science and Health noted that "State legislatures should place higher taxes on more dangerous tobacco products than on less dangerous tobacco products. The state of Kentucky has already taken steps in this direction." [2] The Heartland Institute commented that "Another harm reduction strategy often recommended is that in recognition of ST's lesser risks, taxes to discourage tobacco use should focus on cigarettes, not ST. That approach is gaining some acceptance." [3]

Gartner and Hall, writing in PLoS Medicine in 2007, endorsed this concept: "[T]here is a strong prima facie case on public health and ethical grounds for recommending [ST] to inveterate smokers who want to reduce their health risks and for considering public policies (such as lower taxes for [ST] and public information campaigns) to promote its use by smokers." [4] In 2008 these Australian tobacco researchers urged their government to "reduce the absurdly high customs tax on ST products to make [them] more affordable and easier to import." [5]

In 2007 the National Center for Policy Analysis issued a report on excise taxation of tobacco, alcohol, gambling and other products, which noted the irrational tobacco excise taxes in some states:

"If the true purpose of excise taxes on tobacco products is to recoup the external costs to society, states should levy lower taxes on smokeless products than on cigarettes. However, some states do the reverse. About a fifth of the states charge higher taxes as a percent of the manufacturer's or wholesale price than for cigarettes, including Massachusetts (90 percent for smokeless products versus 68 percent for cigarettes), Texas (35.2 percent versus 18.5 percent), Minnesota (70 percent versus 55.4 percent), Idaho (40 percent versus 25.7 percent) and Oklahoma (60 percent versus 46.4 percent), to name a few." [6]

In 2008 the Buckeye Institute for Public Policy Solutions suggested that these irrational tax policies may have unfortunate consequences:

"Illnesses from cigars and ST such as chewing tobacco cost taxpayers almost nothing. These products are just not as dangerous as cigarettes. Because of this, they should have

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 33 of 37

no special taxes levied on them...While all tobacco products pose some health risk, smoking cigars or using chewing tobacco causes far fewer health problems than smoking cigarettes. By raising the cost of these less dangerous products the anti-tobacco activists may well cause some people who used these products to satisfy their tobacco habit with cigarettes." [7]

In 2007, Kozlowski concluded that "The reviewed evidence indicates that ST products as effective nicotine-delivery systems can function as cigarette substitutes and cessation aids." He advocated for implementation of harm reduction using tax policy: "Econometric research indicates that if one desires the maximum reduction in cigarette sales with a tax increase on cigarettes, it is also important to make other substitutable nicotine-delivery systems ([nicotine replacement therapy] and ST) cost less than cigarettes." [8]

- 1. Fletcher E. Jobs For Kentucky Plan, 2005.
- Meister K. Helping Smokers Quit: A Role for Smokeless Tobacco? American Council on Science and Health, 2006.
- 3. Parnell S. Tobacco Harm Reduction Emerges as Viable Public Health Strategy. Health Care News; The Heartland Institute. September 1, 2005.
- Gartner CE, Hall WD. Should the health community promote smokeless tobacco (snus) as a harm reduction measure? Smokers who switch to snus reduce their health risks. PLoS Medicine 4, July 2007.
- 5. Gartner CE, Hall WD. Should Australia lift the ban on low nitrosamine smokeless tobacco products? Medical Journal of Australia 188: 44-46, 2008.
- 6. Taxing the Poor: A Report on Tobacco, Alcohol, Gambling, and Other Taxes and Fees That Disproportionately Burden Lower-Income Families. National Center for Policy Analysis Report No. 300, June 2007.
- 7. Kilmer M. No need to raise tobacco taxes. The Buckeye Institute for Public Policy Solutions. February 8, 2008.
- 8. Kozlowski LT. Effect of smokeless tobacco product marketing and use on population harm from tobacco use: policy perspective fot tobacco-risk reduction. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 33: S379-S386, 2007.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 34 of 37

Whereas # 8 – Political and financial viability of harm reduction

The tobacco industry and tobacco-related stakeholders are not of one mind, and do not speak with a single voice. The traditional practice within the medical and public health communities of considering cigarettes and the major cigarette companies as emblematic of the entire tobacco industry and all industry-related stakeholders is simply incorrect. Personal experience over a period of decades in dealing with these stakeholders has left one of us (JLN) with the impression that they are a very diverse group, highly competitive within their various market niches, and, as a general rule, intense dislike of Altria/Philip Morris – the makers of Marlboro Cigarettes is widely prevalent.

Scott D. Ballin, JD, in his role as Tobacco and Health Policy Consultant for the Alliance for Health Economic and Agricultural Development (AHEAD), has been, more than any other single individual, an advocate for productive dialogue between public health advocates, growers, and other tobacco-industry-related stakeholders. In his October 3, 2007 testimony to the House Health Committee Subcommittee on Energy and Commerce, he described the mission of AHEAD in the following terms:

"The Alliance is an informal organization whose purpose is to educate, stimulate, and facilitate discussions with and between public health advocates, growers, the scientific community, tobacco manufacturers, consumers, policy makers, pharmaceutical and biotech interests about a spectrum of issues related to the production, processing, manufacture, sale, distribution, labeling, marketing and use of tobacco and tobacco products. The Alliance is an outgrowth of the *Southern Tobacco Communities Project* established in the mid-1990's through a grant from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation that brought the public health community and growers together to engage in a civil dialogue about tobacco. That dialogue led to the issuance of a set of *Core Principles* in 1998 and the presidential commission report **Tobacco at a Crossroads** in May of 2001. The Steering Committee members serve as individuals, each of whom has significant and unique experiences in dealing with tobacco related issues."[1]

AHEAD has published a detailed report entitled *Tobacco and Tobacco Products At a Crossroads in the 21st Century: Reducing Harm from Tobacco and Tobacco Products; Can Tobacco and Tobacco Product Modification Play a Role?; Seeking Civil Solutions in an Uncivil Environment.* [2] This report is well worth reading for anyone interested in considering productive dialogue between the public health community and tobacco-industry stakeholders in pursuit of common objectives under which tobacco industry stakeholders can thrive while protecting the health of the public.

The concept of political and financial viability of a harm-reduction approach is based on the idea that encouraging the use of lower risk tobacco products to reduce tobacco-related illness and death will give growers something to grow, manufacturers and vendors products to manufacture and sell, etc. As noted before, this can be done in a way that will not reduce the effectiveness of other programming intended to reduce initiation of tobacco use by children and youth, and not reduce effectiveness of efforts to encourage smokers to quit.

- 1. Statement of Scott D. Ballin, JD on behalf of AHEAD (Alliance for Health Economic and Agricultural Development0 Concerning FDA Regulation of Tobacco Products to the Subcommittee on Health Committee on Energy and Commerce. October 3, 2007.
- 2. Ballin SD: entitled *Tobacco and Tobacco Products At a Crossroads in the 21st Century: Reducing Harm from Tobacco and Tobacco Products*. August 2006 http://www.tobaccoatacrossroads.com

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 35 of 37

Note Regarding Pharmaceutical versus Non-Pharmaceutical Harm Reduction Products

Some writers in this field feel that harm-reduction nicotine delivery products should be limited to "medicinal nicotine" products produced by or on behalf of pharmaceutical firms. [1]

We disagree. It is our opinion that, if such products are to effectively reach populations at highest risk for cigarette-related illness and death – high school dropouts, disadvantaged minorities, gays and others – products will have to be accessible through the same retail outlets that sell cigarettes, and at comparable prices.

1. Kozlowski LT, Strasser AA, Giovino GA, Ericson PA, Terza JV: Applying the risk/use equilibrium: use medicinal nicotine now for harm reduction. Tobacco Control 2001:10: 201-203

Note on the Need for Additional Research

The prevailing public health policy that could be summarized with the phrase "avoid all use of tobacco products; abstain, quit or die" has sorely inhibited research into many topics related to tobacco and health. It has created a situation in which company-sponsored research is always suspected of major bias, and government-sponsored research has been largely limited to studies that support the impression that all tobacco use is so harmful that none should be considered.

As a result, the best we can do is to extrapolate the expected hazards from other forms of smoking tobacco products (cigars, pipes, water pipes, etc) to be similar in risk to cigarettes, and seriously question the public health value and impact of inhalable nicotine products being marketed or developed as harm-reduction alternatives. While snus have an enviable track record of safety over many decades of use in Scandinavian countries, there is no such track record for many of the non-pharmaceutical nicotine delivery devices now either on the market or coming to market.

The only practical means by which the needed research can be done will be the passage of federal legislation for federal oversight of tobacco products that realistically recognizes both the prevalence and power of the addictiveness of nicotine and a willingness to consider all feasible options to reduce tobacco-related illness and death. Such legislation should include provision by which one or more funds can be developed that will enable governmental sponsorship of unbiased research into all possible approaches to reducing tobacco-related illness and death.

That having been said, it is important to repeat the perception by the authors of this paper and the organizations supporting the resolution herein – that currently available scientific findings are more than adequate to vigorously pursue harm reduction as one aspect of our continuing efforts to reduce tobacco-related illness and death. We do not need more research to justify such an approach. What we need is new legislation and policy and program development to translate this knowledge into effective public health programming, while we pursue additional research to further refine our public health efforts.

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 36 of 37

Bios and Financial Disclosure Statements

Joel L. Nitzkin, MD, MPH, DPA, FACPM, is a public health physician who has spent most of his career working for local and state health departments. Following graduation from medical school in 1966, he had a one-year rotating internship at Parklawn Memorial Hospital, in Dallas, TX, followed by a two-year tour of duty in the CDC's Epidemic Intelligence Service. In 1970 he secured a Master's Degree in Public Health from the University of California at Berkeley. From 1970 to 1976 he directed the communicable and chronic disease programming at the Dade County Health Department, in Miami, Florida. While there he completed his credentialing in the medical specialty of Preventive Medicine and pursued his Master's Degree and Doctorate in Public Administration at Nova University, in Fort Lauderdale, From 1976 to 1989 he served as Director of the Monroe County Health Department, in Rochester, New York. It was while in Rochester that Dr. Nitzkin became deeply involved in tobacco control as a public health priority, with Monroe County adopting what was, in its time (1983), one of the strictest clean indoor air ordinances. From 1989 to 1992, Dr. Nitzkin served as the Assistant Secretary for Public Health (State Health Officer) for the state of Louisiana. Since 1992, he has been in the private practice of public health as policy consultant. For four of these years he was full time faculty at the LSU School of Medicine as follow-through to a consulting project. Since the late 1990's Dr. Nitzkin has served as the Chair of the Tobacco Control Task Force of the American Association of Public Health Physicians. Dr. Nitzkin has never sought nor secured any financial or other support from any tobacco-related enterprise.

Brad Rodu, DDS, is Professor of Medicine and holds an Endowed Chair, Tobacco Harm Reduction Research, School of Medicine at the University of Louisville in Kentucky. An oral and maxillofacial pathologist by training, he was on the faculty at the University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB) from 1981 to 2005, with appointments in several departments in the Schools of Medicine, Public Health and Dentistry.

For the past 15 years Dr. Rodu's research has focused on tobacco harm reduction, including prevalence studies of tobacco use, epidemiologic models of the health risks and life expectancy of tobacco users, and laboratory analyses of tobacco products. He also conducted research in Sweden, where tobacco harm reduction has been realized and has resulted in a profound effect on public health. His research has been published in a broad range of medical and scientific journals such as Nature, The American Journal of Medicine, Epidemiology, Cancer, Journal of Clinical Oncology, Nicotine and Tobacco Research and Tobacco Control.

From 1993 to 1999 Dr. Rodu's research on tobacco harm reduction was conducted with only very limited financial support from general accounts at UAB, and no external support whatsoever. During that time Dr. Rodu and his colleagues established the scientific foundation of tobacco harm reduction with publications in professional medical journals and in the general press.

From 1999 to 2005 UAB Dr. Rodu's research was supported by a research grant from the United States Smokeless Tobacco Company (USSTC) of Greenwich, Connecticut to UAB. The agreement between USSTC and UAB broke new ground with regard to industry-sponsored university research. The award was completely unrestricted; the agreement specified that UAB had no obligation to USSTC regarding consequential work products. The grantor had no scientific input or other influence regarding the nature of the research projects or activities and did not have access to

10/26/08 AAPHP Tobc Harm Reduction Resolution and White Paper page 37 of 37

research reports prior to their publication. In other words, the structure of this agreement exceeded UAB guidelines with regard to financial support from external sources, and it imposed absolutely no restrictions on academic freedom in the undertaking and communication of funded research. A scientific advisory board oversaw the program.

In 2005 Dr. Rodu joined the University of Louisville. Financial support for the endowed chair and research activities was made possible by grants from USSTC and Swedish Match (based in Stockholm, Sweden with North American operations based in Richmond, Virginia). These grants are also unrestricted, which ensures the scientific independence and integrity of research projects and activities. The chair was also funded in part by the State of Kentucky Research Challenge Trust Fund, a program that makes it possible for public universities in Kentucky to attract and retain the nation's top scholars and researchers.

JLN,RD, AAPHP General Membership; jln: 20081026HarmReductionResolutionAsPassed.doc/pdf